COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT BETWEEN WASCO COUNTY, OREGON AND

WASCO COUNTY LAW ENFORCEMENT ASSOCIATION

EFFECTIVE THROUGH JUNE 30, 2021

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PREAMBLE	1
ARTICLE 1 - SCOPE OF AGREEMENT AND RECOGNITION	1
ARTICLE 2 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS	1
ARTICLE 3 – ASSOCIATION RIGHTS	4
ARTICLE 4 - NO STRIKE CLAUSE	5
ARTICLE 5 - HOURS OF WORK	-5
ARTICLE 6 - PROBATIONARY PERIOD	10
ARTICLE 7 - SENIORITY	10
ARTICLE 8 - DISCIPLINE AND DISCHARGE	11
ARTICLE 9 - EMPLOYEE RIGHTS	12
ARTICLE 10 - GRIEVANCE AND ARBITRATION PROCEDURE	15
ARTICLE 11 - COMPENSATION	17
ARTICLE 12 - HOLIDAYS	19
ARTICLE 13 - VACATIONS	20
ARTICLE 14 – FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE	21
ARTICLE 15 - SICK LEAVE	22
ARTICLE 16 - OTHER LEAVES OF ABSENCE	23
ARTICLE 17 - INSURANCE AND RETIREMENT	24
ARTICLE 18 - TRAINING AND CERTIFICATION	25
ARTICLE 19 - CLOTHING AND EQUIPMENT	26
ARTICLE 20 - ALCOHOL AND DRUG TESTING	27
ARTICLE 21 - CLOSING	27
ARTICLE 22 - TERM AND TERMINATION	28
APPENDIX A – WAGE SCALE	29
APPENDIX B - WASCO COUNTY COMPENSATION POLICY	31

PREAMBLE

This contract, hereinafter referred to as the Agreement, is entered into by Wasco County, Oregon, and the Wasco County Sheriff, hereinafter jointly referred to as the "County," and the Wasco County Law Enforcement Association, hereinafter referred to as the "Association." The County and the Association acknowledge that there is a statutory division of authority and responsibility between the County Board of Commissioners and the Sheriff with respect to administration of the Sheriff's Office affected by this Agreement and that Oregon Revised Statutes shall control in the event of conflict with any provision of this contract.

ARTICLE 1 - SCOPE OF AGREEMENT AND RECOGNITION

1.1. Scope of the Bargaining Unit: The bargaining unit covered by this Agreement shall consist of all full-time, paid deputy sheriffs, records clerks, communications officers, animal control officers, assistant animal control officers, and civil deputies. The chief deputy, lieutenants, sergeants, supervisors, administrative assistants, and confidential employees are excluded from the bargaining unit.

In the event a new job classification is created within the Sheriff's Office, the County and the Association will discuss whether or not the new classification will be included in the bargaining unit.

- 1.2. Recognition: The County recognizes the Association as the sole and exclusive bargaining representative for all employees in the Sheriff's Office as described in Section 1.1 of this Agreement.
- 1.3 Time Computation: Unless otherwise expressly stated, "days" shall be defined as full business days, Monday through Friday, excluding holidays.

ARTICLE 2 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

2.1. Management Rights: Except as otherwise specified in this Agreement, the rights of members of the bargaining unit are limited to those specifically set forth in this Agreement. The County retains all rights, responsibilities, prerogatives, and functions not specifically limited by the terms of this Agreement. Except as required by ORS 243.650, et seq., the County shall have no obligation to bargain with the Association with respect to any subjects or the exercise of its discretion and decision making on any subjects not covered by terms of this Agreement.

Without limitation, but by way of illustration, the exclusive prerogatives, functions, and rights of the County shall include the following:

- A. To determine the services to be rendered to the citizens of the County.
- B. To determine and to follow the County's financial, budgetary and accounting procedures.
- C. To direct and supervise all operations, functions, and policies of the Sheriff's Office in which the employees in the bargaining unit are employed, and operations, functions and policies in the remainder of the County as they may affect employees in the bargaining unit.

- D. To close or liquidate any office, branch, operation, facility or combination of facilities, or to relocate, reorganize or combine the work of divisions, offices, branches, operations or facilities for budgetary or other reasons.
- E. To manage and direct the work force, including, but not limited to, the right to determine the methods, processes and manner of performing work; the right to hire, promote, and retain employees and to transfer them within the same pay range; the right to lay off subject to Article 7 of this Agreement; the right to abolish positions or reorganize the Sheriff's Office; the right to determine schedules of work subject to Article 5 of this Agreement; the right to purchase, dispose of and assign equipment or supplies.
- F. To determine the need for a reduction or an increase in the work force and the implementation of any decision with regard thereto.
- G. Except as required by ORS 243.650, et seq., to establish, revise and implement standards for hiring, classification, promotion, quality of work, safety, materials, equipment, uniforms and appearance.
- H. Except as required by ORS 243.650, et seq., to implement new, and to revise or discard, wholly or in part, old methods, procedures, materials, equipment, facilities and standards.
- I. To contract or subcontract work as may be determined by the County, provided that as to work which has been previously and regularly performed by employees in the bargaining unit, the County agrees to afford an opportunity for the Association to negotiate with the County as to the effect of such action on wages, hours and conditions of employment in the bargaining unit prior to finalizing or implementing any decision concerning such contracting or subcontracting.
- J. To assign shifts, workdays, hours of work and work locations subject to Article 5 of this Agreement.
- K. To designate and to assign all work duties.
- L. To introduce new duties within the unit.
- M. To determine the need for and the qualifications of new employees, transfers and promotions.
- N. To discipline, suspend, demote or discharge an employee so long as such action is not arbitrary, in bad faith or without just cause.
- To determine the need for additional educational courses, training programs, on-the-job
 training and cross-training, and to assign employees to such duties for periods to be
 determined by the County.
- P. To schedule meetings of employees and require attendance at such meetings, subject to the provisions of Article 11 of this Agreement.
- 2.2. Future Rules: The parties jointly recognize that the elected officials of the County are directly responsible to the citizens of the County and to the public for the performance of the functions and services performed by the County; it is jointly recognized that the County must and does retain broad authority to fulfill and implement its responsibilities and may do so by adoption of written work rules. It is agreed that no existing work rule or new work rule will be promulgated or implemented which is inconsistent with a specific provision of this

Agreement, provided that the requirements of Oregon Law will always be paramount. All work rules which have been or shall hereafter be reduced to writing shall be posted within the Sheriff's Office for a period of ten (10) days and shall be furnished to an Association officer at the time the rule is posted. In the event the Association considers a work rule to be inconsistent with a specific provision of this Agreement or to be a bargainable subject, or otherwise wishes to discuss the rule, the Association shall so notify the Sheriff in writing within the ten (10) day posting period. In such event, the rule shall be discussed or negotiated between the Sheriff and/or his designee and the Association. A copy of an updated Policy and Procedure Manual shall be accessible to each employee and furnished to the Association upon request.

2.3. Nothing in this Agreement, or in this Article, will be construed to prevent the County from initiating any program or change which is not contrary to an express provision of this Agreement. In the event the County desires to amend or modify or change any of its policies affecting existing conditions involving a mandatory subject of bargaining (including the decision and/or its impact) over which the Association has not otherwise waived its right to bargain, the County will provide the Association with written and oral notice of the proposed change. The Association shall have ten (10) days to object in writing and orally to the person proposing the change or their designee. The failure of the Association to object in writing to the proposed change within ten (10) days of the notice provided for above shall serve as a waiver of the Association's right to bargain. The Association's written objection shall specify the nature of the objection and identify whether the Association believes the proposed change involves a mandatory bargainable subject or a mandatory bargainable impact of a permissive subject.

If the County agrees that the proposed change or its impact is mandatory, the parties shall bargain in good faith over said changes for a period not to exceed twenty (20) days. If after the passage of twenty (20) days, the parties have not reached agreement, either party may declare an impasse and initiate interest arbitration pursuant to ORS 243.746, by requesting a list of thirteen (13) arbitrators from the Employment Relations Board. Within seven (7) days of receipt of the list from the ERB, the parties, by lot, will alternately strike names from the list until only one (1) arbitrator remains on the list, who shall serve as the arbitrator. The arbitrator shall make a binding decision on the parties as to whether the County's proposal or the Association's proposal shall be adopted pursuant to the interest arbitration criteria established by law.

- 2.4. Probationary Employees: The Association recognizes the right of the Sheriff to terminate the employment of a probationary employee for any reason and to exercise all rights not specifically modified by this Agreement with respect to such employees, including, but not limited to, the shifting of work schedules or job assignments, the assignment of on-the-job training, cross-training in other classifications, and the requirement that such employees attend training programs, including on their off-duty time.
- 2.5. Filling of Vacancies: Whenever a vacancy in the Sheriff's Office occurs, notice of such opening will be posted in the Sheriff's Office for a period of one (1) week to provide employees the opportunity to apply for the job. Where, in the Sheriff's judgment, based on prior performance and experience of the employees, applicable Civil Service exam results, and other relevant criteria, the relative qualifications, aptitude and ability to perform the work are equal between two (2) or more internal applicants for an opening, the employee with the greater departmental seniority shall be offered the position first (unless application of the Veteran's Preference requires otherwise). As between equally qualified internal and external applicants based on the criteria stated above, the existing employee shall be offered the position first (unless application of the Veteran's Preference requires otherwise). The Sheriff shall determine the step on the salary schedule at which the employee selected to fill the job opening will be placed, and shall advise the employee of that information at the time he/she offers the position to the

employee. Upon request, a senior employee who is not selected shall be provided with a written explanation for non-selection.

- 2.6. Outside Employment: Employees wishing to engage in off-duty employment must obtain written approval from the Sheriff. In order to be approved, the outside employment must:
- A. Be compatible with the employee's County duties.
- B. In no way detract from the efficiency of the employee in County duties.
- C. In no way be a discredit to County employment.
- D. Not take preference over extra duty required by County employment.
- E. Request must be in submitted in writing to the Sheriff every 12 months, with written approval provided to the employee by the Sheriff. (The Sheriff shall respond to the request within 30 days.)
- $\underline{2.7.}$ Temporary Employees: A temporary employee shall not be employed for more than six (6) consecutive months.

ARTICLE 3 - ASSOCIATION RIGHTS

3.1. Dues Deduction:

- A. Dues Deduction: All employees covered by the terms and conditions of this Agreement shall have the voluntary choice of whether to become members of the Association. The County agrees to deduct dues as determined by the Association's Executive Board from the wages of each employee who is a member of the Association. The County agrees to deposit the total amount deducted from all members into an established account designated by the Association, on a monthly basis. The County will provide a listing of each bargaining unit member and the amount deducted, to the Association, on a semi-annual basis.
- B. Hold Harmless: The Association agrees to indemnify and hold the County harmless from and against any and all claims, suits, orders or judgments brought against the County as a result of the County's compliance with the provisions of this Section and to reimburse any fees, costs or expenses incurred by the County in connection with same.
- 3.2. Labor Relations Training: Subject to the operating requirements of the Sheriff's Office, members of the Association Executive Board shall be allowed an unpaid leave of absence or shall be allowed to use accrued vacation or compensatory time for the purpose of attending labor relations training and conferences.
- 3.3. Bulletin Boards: The County agrees to authorize the use of bulletin board space in convenient places to be used by the Association in communicating with the bargaining unit members. The Association shall limit its posting of notices and bulletins to such bulletin boards. The contents of such notices and bulletins shall be limited to the posting of factual information as it relates to employees and the business of the Association.
- 3.4. Safety Committee: An employee representative selected by the Association shall be included as a member of the County Safety Committee. The Safety Committee shall meet at regular times, and shall be responsible for reviewing and recommending County health

and safety policies and procedures, for workplace inspections to locate and identify safety and health hazards, for investigating safety-related incidents, and for such other activities as the County Safety Committee and the County may determine would promote health and safety in the workplace.

- 3.5. Collective Bargaining Agreement Renewal Sessions: The Association's negotiating team, to be composed of no more than three (3) on-duty employees, shall be permitted to attend negotiation meetings with the County relative to securing contract renewal without loss of pay, unless such absences hamper the normal operations of the Sheriff's Office. The dates, times, and places for these negotiation sessions will be established by mutual agreement between the parties.
- 3.6. Contract Administration: The County agrees that, subject to the operating requirements of the Sheriff's Office and with supervisory approval, a designated Association officer may during normal working hours without loss of pay or benefits, attend meetings with County representatives pertaining to labor relations and attend hearings and arbitrations between the Association and the County. Hours utilized for this purpose shall not be considered hours worked in determining the payment of overtime. Work hours shall not be used by Association officers, employees or representatives for solicitation of Association membership, collection or checking of dues or other activities relating to the internal business of the Association. Subject to the operating requirements of the Sheriff's Office and with supervisory approval, on duty employees may attend Association meetings no more often than quarterly and no longer than two (2) hours in duration, but shall be subject to call.

ARTICLE 4 - NO STRIKE CLAUSE

4.1. No Strike Clause: No employee covered by this Agreement shall engage in any work stoppage, slowdown, picketing or strike at any location in the County during the duration of this Agreement. If any such work stoppage, slowdown, picketing or strike shall take place, the Association will take all reasonable steps to immediately notify such employees so engaging in such activities to cease and desist. Employees in the bargaining unit, while acting in the course of their employment, shall not refuse to cross any picket line established in the County by a labor organization when called upon to cross such picket line in the line of duty. Any employee engaging in any activity in violation of this Article shall be subject to disciplinary action, including discharge by the County.

ARTICLE 5 - HOURS OF WORK

5.1. Workweek: The "workweek" shall be defined as seven (7) consecutive calendar days commencing on Monday at 5 a.m. and ending the following Monday at 4:59 a.m. for employees working in the 911 center, and commencing Monday at 6 a.m. and ending the following Monday at 5:59 a.m. for all other employees.

5.2. Hours:

- A. The regular hours of work each workweek, to the extent consistent with operating requirements of the Sheriff's Office and the need for continuous service to the County throughout the week, shall be five (5) consecutive days of eight (8) consecutive hours of work per day, including meal and rest periods.
- B. At the option of the County, the regular hours of work each work week may be scheduled on the basis of four (4) consecutive days of ten (10) consecutive hours of work per day, including meal and rest periods.

- C. The other provisions of this Article notwithstanding, it is recognized that employees on Special Assignments must work such hours as the nature of the Special Assignment requires, and that, by mutual agreement between the County and the employee, the hours of work each day or each week may sometimes not be consecutive for an employee on a Special Assignment while carrying out the responsibilities of the Special Assignment. Special Assignments shall be those made by the Sheriff to individual Deputy Sheriffs to carry out or perform a specific function on a temporary or ongoing basis. The Special Assignments for which non-consecutive hours may be worked include Investigator, Search and Rescue Coordinator, Traffic Safety Team, Marine Deputy, Oregon Parks & Recreation District (ORPD) Deputy, School Resource Officer, Narcotics Task Force Officer, Training Officer and Range Master.
- 5.3. Work Schedules: Subject to Sections 5.1 and 5.2 of this Article, all employees shall be scheduled to work on a regular work shift, and each shift shall have regular starting and quitting times. Work schedules showing the employees' shifts, workdays and hours shall be posted in the Sheriff's Office patrol room and 911 Center break room. Except for emergencies and other situations beyond the County's control, and for the duration of the emergency or other situation, changes in work schedules shall be posted at least seven (7) calendar days prior to the effective date of the change.

Mandated shift changes which occur without seven (7) calendar days' prior written notification shall be subject to premium pay at time and one-half the employee's regular rate of pay. The premium pay liability shall be limited to those hours of the first two (2) days of a shift change which fall outside the employee's previously scheduled work hours. However, if a shift change without the seven (7) calendar days prior notification is the result of a bona fide emergency or other situation beyond the County's control which could not reasonably have been anticipated, the schedule change shall, for purposes of overtime payment, be treated as though seven (7) calendar days prior notification had been given.

5.4. Shift Assignments:

A. Shift Change and Rotation for Patrol Deputies.

- Shift Scheduling. The regular shift rotation shall occur every three (3) months based on a calendar year, beginning January 1st of each year. The County will require all employees to select shift schedules to work during the calendar year as follows:
 - a. The County shall post a master schedule of the anticipated available shifts for each quarter of the year no later than October 1st of each calendar year. Selections for vacant Specialty Assignments shall be made prior to October 1st of each calendar year.
 - b. Each Patrol Deputy, starting with the Deputy who has the most class seniority, shall in turn bid his or her four (4) quarters that he or she wishes to work among those indicated on the master schedule which have not been previously selected by a more senior employee(s). Deputies shall adhere to the following restrictions on shift bidding:
 - The Deputy shall not bid the same shift more than two (2) times in a calendar year unless all other shifts have been previously selected by more senior employees.

- ii. The Deputy shall bid at least one (1) day shift and one (1) night shift per calendar year unless all other shifts have been previously selected by more senior employees. [Day shift shall be defined as any shift that starts between 2:00 am and 1:59 pm. Night shift shall be defined as any shift that starts between 2:00 pm and 1:59 am.]
- iii. The Deputy shall bid at least two (2) shifts on weekends. Weekend shifts will be defined as any shift schedule that includes a Saturday, a Sunday, or both days.
- Deputies working Specialty Assignments or Investigations shall not be subject to the above restrictions on shift bidding.

B. <u>Shift Change and Rotation for Dispatchers</u>.

- Shift Scheduling. The regular shift rotation shall occur every three (3) months based on a calendar year, beginning January 1st of each year. The County will require all Dispatchers to select shift schedules to work during the calendar year as follows:
 - a. The County shall post a master schedule of the anticipated available shifts for each quarter of the year no later than October 1st of each calendar year.
 - b. Each Dispatcher, starting with the Dispatcher who has the most class seniority, shall in turn bid his or her four (4) quarterly shifts that he or she wishes to work among those indicated on the master schedule that have not been previously selected by more senior employees. Dispatchers shall adhere to the following restrictions on shift bidding:
 - i. The Dispatcher shall not bid the same shift more than two (2) times in a calendar year unless all other shifts have been previously selected by more senior employees:
 - 1. <u>Exception</u>: The Dispatchers shall not bid Shift CCCC more than once per year unless all other shifts have been previously selected by more senior employees.
 - ii. The Dispatcher shall bid at least one (1) day shift and two (2) night shifts per calendar year unless all other shifts have been previously selected by more senior employees. Night shift shall be defined as any shift that starts between 2:00 pm and 1:59 am. Day shift shall be defined as any shift that starts between 2:00 am and 1:59 pm.
 - iii. The Dispatcher shall bid at least two (2) shifts of weekends. Weekend shifts will be defined as any shift schedule that includes a Saturday, a Sunday, or both days.
- C. Each employee shall have up to one hundred and twenty (120) hours to bid their shifts and return the bid to their supervisor. The supervisor will then provide the bid to the next employee by seniority, and that employee's 120-hour period will commence. Failure to bid with 120 hours will result in the employee falling to the bottom of the seniority list.

- D. <u>Shift Trades</u>. Employees shall be allowed to trade shifts subject to supervisory approval in accordance with the Fair Labor Standards Act, so long as the County does not incur additional costs as a result of the shift trade. The employee who is scheduled to work shall be responsible for any work absence. Rotational shift trades (i.e., shift trades for an entire quarter or major portion of the quarter) will not be allowed except for exceptional circumstances as determined by the County.
- E. The master schedule will be posted no later than January 1st of each calendar year.
- F. Exceptions. With regard to the above procedures, it is recognized that the scheduling of shifts on the basis of employee preference will not be allowed to interfere with the County's ability to provide the best and most cost-effective service to the public. By way of example thereof, the following exceptions to the above shift scheduling procedure are made:
 - 1. Probationary employees shall not be subject to these shift selection procedures.
 - 2. Employees assigned to a particular activity that is traditionally associated with specific work schedules shall not be subject to the provisions of these shift selection procedures. Examples of such assignments include the following:
 - Investigations.
 - b. Narcotics.
 - c. Inter-Agency Task Force.
 - d. Marine Deputy.
 - 3. The County shall continue to have the right to change the scheduled work shift of employees in order to meet operational needs, comply with contractual requirements of third parties, and to respond to changes in staffing due to employee terminations, employee disabilities, budgetary exigencies and the like. Notice of any permanent change in the regular work schedule will be posted at least two (2) weeks in advance. The foregoing shall not apply when the change in schedule is for reasons beyond the control of the County.
- G. Rotating shifts shall not be applicable to or may be modified in the following situations:
 - A resident assigned deputy.
 - 2. Criminal investigator training position, normally of six (6) months to one (1) year of duration.
 - Special Assignments, except Search and Rescue Coordinator, Training Officer and Range Master.
 - 4. Authorized and available "light-duty" work assignments for injured employees that place the employee on a temporary "fixed" shift.
 - Prior authorized and approved "preference" vacation schedules that, due to unanticipated vacancies (terminations, etc.), necessitate temporary changes in the normal rotation.

- 6. Training situations.
- 7. Any unforeseen or emergency situation that would necessitate a change in the normal rotation for a reasonable period of time.
- H. Any individual who, due to training, is advanced beyond, and therefore, loses a part of his/her shift rotation, will be given an equal amount of "makeup" time on that shift when the training is completed through a temporary trade with the trainee. The trainee's regular rotation will not be designated until the "makeup" time is completed.
- I. By mutual agreement between the employee and his/her supervisor, the schedule of an employee assigned to a Special Assignment position of Investigator, Search and Rescue Coordinator, Traffic Safety Team, Marine Deputy, School Resource Officer, Narcotics Task Force Officer, Training Officer or Range Master, Oregon Parks & Recreation District, or of a Patrol Deputy may be "flexed" to allow the employee to work more than the number of hours in his/her regular shift without payment of overtime, provided that during the same workweek the employee is allowed an amount of time off without pay equal to the amount of daily time worked in excess of the number of hours in the employee's regular shift. Flex time shall not result in overtime or compensatory time to the County unless the employee works more than forty (40) hours in the workweek involved, and the parties specifically waive application of ORS 279.340 whenever a flex time schedule or schedule adjustment occurs.
- 5.5. Shift Rotation: The parties agree that the workweek will remain the same for all employees (Monday, 5 am through the following Monday, 4:59 am for employees working in the 911 center, and Monday, 6 am through the following Monday, 5:59 am for all other employees), even in weeks in which an employee rotates to a new schedule in accordance with Sections 5.3 and 5.4 hereof. The parties agree that if a shift rotation results in an employee working more than forty (40) hours in a workweek, the employee will be paid overtime in accordance with Section 11.3 of this Agreement. The parties further agree that if a shift rotation results in an employee working less than forty (40) hours in a workweek, the employee may make up the additional hours needed to reach forty (40) in the workweek from accrued vacation or compensatory time off, or by working the additional hours if shifts are available. The parties agree that in a shift rotation, an employee will get at least two days off between the old shift and the new shift. If an employee does not get at least two days off in such circumstances, the employee will be paid time-and-a-half for any work performed on those two days.
- 5.6. Meal Periods: To the extent consistent with the operating requirements of the Sheriff's Office, continuous shift employees will normally be granted a meal break of thirty (30) minutes which shall be considered on-duty time during which they are subject to calls for service. Any employee required to work four (4) or more hours beyond his/her scheduled quitting time may upon request be provided with a meal either during or at the conclusion of his/her extended shift. Dispatch personnel who are not allowed to leave their work station during their meal break will have a meal provided to them. Employees who are not assigned to continuous shifts shall receive a nonpaid duty-free lunch period of one-half (1/2) to one (1) hour.

When an employee is on authorized travel outside the County, a meal allowance in an amount up to the current County-established rate shall be allowed.

5.7. Break Periods: Employees shall be relieved of their duties for 10 minutes during each half shift. If such break time is not prescheduled, an employee may take it at such time(s) as workloads allow. Employees may be subject to call during such periods, and will not receive extra compensation if they do not receive or are required to work during a break.

5.8: No provision of this Agreement shall be construed as establishing or inferring a guarantee of any hours of work per day or per week.

ARTICLE 6 - PROBATIONARY PERIOD

- 6.1. Probation Period: The probationary period is an integral part of the employee selection process and provides the County with the opportunity to upgrade and improve the quality of its services to the citizens of the County by observing a new employee's work, training new employees, and assisting new employees in adjusting to their positions, and by providing an opportunity to reject any employee whose work performance fails to meet required work standards. Probationary employees are covered by this Agreement.
- 6.2. Length of Probation: Whenever a new employee is hired, promoted or transferred into a bargaining unit position, he/she shall serve a probationary period of twelve (12) full months of employment, unless the position requires certification by the Oregon DPSST and he/she does not possess the certification required of the position, in which event the probationary period shall be eighteen (18) full months of employment. Employees serving an eighteen (18) month probationary period shall be eligible for a step increase upon completion of twelve (12) months' service if their performance is satisfactory. Every new employee who successfully completes his/her initial probationary period shall become a regular employee.
- 6.3. Current Employees: In instances where a current employee assumes a different position in the bargaining unit, the employee will be subject to reclassification to his/her former position for unsatisfactory performance in the new position, or he/she may voluntarily return to his/her last job position, for a period of up to sixty (60) calendar days from the date the employee assumes the different position. After sixty (60) calendar days, the employee will only be entitled to return to the next available opening in the employee's previous classification for up to six (6) months.

ARTICLE 7 - SENIORITY

- 7.1. Definitions: Except as otherwise specifically provided herein, an employee's seniority shall be regarded as his/her "departmental seniority" and/or his/her "classification seniority." Departmental seniority shall be the employee's total length of unbroken employment with the Sheriff's Office, and classification seniority shall be the employee's total length of unbroken employment in his/her current classification. An employee's length of employment shall be his/her most recent period of continuous employment within the Sheriff's Office or the classification.
- 7.2. Continuous Employment: Continuous employment for the purpose of accumulating vacation leave credit shall be service unbroken by separation from employment with the County. Periods of excused absence of less than one (1) month shall be included as continuous employment. Unless the law otherwise requires, layoffs of one (1) month or more, or leaves of absence of one (1) month or more, including absences due to sick leave, will not be counted as part of continuous employment for accrual purposes, but employees returning from any such leave and from layoff status within one (1) year of the layoff shall be entitled to credit for service prior to the absence.

If an employee is on a bona fide time loss injury, and is able to return to work within one (1) year, the period of the injury shall be considered as continuous employment for purposes of maintaining said employee's seniority. The employee shall also continue to receive all of the health, welfare and life insurance benefits that the County is permitted by law to provide that are specified in Article 16 of this Agreement for up to one (1) year.

- 7.3. Loss of Seniority: All seniority shall be lost for the following reasons:
- If the employee voluntarily quits or resigns;
- B. If the employee is discharged;
- C. If the employee retires;
- D. If the employee is laid off because of a reduction in force or lack of work for a period in excess of one (1) year;
- E. Unless a reason satisfactory to the Sheriff is given, failure to respond within five (5) days after receipt of a notice of recall from a layoff. Such notice shall be sent by certified mail, return receipt requested, and marked "deliver to addressee only," to the employee's last known address on file with the County;
- F. Failure to register in person or by mail with the County at least once every thirty (30) calendar days during periods of layoff, signifying his/her availability for recall and updated address and telephone number.
- 7.4. Layoff and Recall: In the event of a layoff of employees in the Sheriff's Office, selection of employees retained will be in accordance with classification seniority within the affected job classification(s), so long as the senior employees possess qualifications, aptitude and ability to perform the work equal to those of the employees laid off. Except in unusual circumstances, employees shall normally be given at least two (2) weeks' notice of layoff. Employees will be recalled from layoff in the reverse order of the layoff.
- 7.5 Seniority List: Upon request, the Sheriff shall provide the Association with a copy of the seniority list.
- 7.6 Specialty Assignments: A specialty assignment is one in which the primary duties pertain to the assignment and are different from regular patrol duties. Vacant specialty assignments for traffic safety team, marine deputy, school resource officer, Oregon Parks & Recreation District, and other specialty assignments not specifically excepted herein shall be posted by the Sheriff for at least fourteen (14) days in order to allow interested employees to apply for the assignment. (Specialty assignments for Investigations and MINT do not follow this process.) Appointments to specialty assignments shall be made on the basis of qualifications, competence, and Sheriff's Office needs as determined by the Sheriff. Ties will be broken by seniority. Disagreements over assignments and removals from assignments under this section may be grieved through Step 2 of the grievance procedure. The length of specialty assignments is at the sole discretion of the Sheriff or his/her designee.
- 7.7 Collateral Assignments: A collateral assignment is one in which the primary function entails regular patrol duties with additional duties assigned (e.g., Search & Rescue Coordinator, Firearms Instructor, Reserve Coordinator, Posse Coordinator, Training Officer, etc.). Collateral assignments follow the same process for selection as Specialty Assignments as set forth in Section 7.6. The length of specialty assignments is at the sole discretion of the Sheriff or his/her designee.

ARTICLE 8 - DISCIPLINE AND DISCHARGE

- 8.1. Discipline: Disciplinary action shall be limited to the following:
- A. Written reprimand.

- B. Suspension without pay.
- C. Reduction in pay.
- D. Demotion.
- E. Discharge.

Disciplinary action shall only be taken for just cause, which shall include application of progressive discipline when consistent with the nature of the offense and other relevant circumstances. If an employee is to be disciplined, he/she shall receive written notice specifying the reason or reasons for the disciplinary action, the policies, procedures, rules, regulations and/or laws determined to have been violated and the facts which lead to the disciplinary conclusion. If the Sheriff or another supervisor has reason to discipline an employee, he/she shall not impose such discipline in a manner that will unduly embarrass or humiliate the employee before other employees or the public.

The appeal of any disciplinary action shall be made through the grievance procedure set forth in Article 10. The Association may process a grievance concerning economic discipline commencing at Step 2 of the grievance procedure. Employees shall not be permitted to pursue any disciplinary action grievance arising under this Agreement to the County Civil Service Commission.

8.2. Discharge: Any employee may be discharged during his/her probationary period without recourse to the provisions of this Article or the grievance procedure (Article 10) of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 9 - EMPLOYEE RIGHTS

9.1. Employee Bill of Rights:

Whereas, the security of Wasco County and its citizens, plus the integrity and reputation of the Wasco County Sheriff's Office, depends to a great extent on the manner in which employees of the Sheriff's Office perform their varied and difficult duties, the performance of which duties involves those members in all manner of contacts and relationships with the public; and

Whereas, out of such contacts and relationships may arise questions concerning the actions of members of the Sheriff's Office;

Now, therefore, to ensure that such investigations are conducted in a manner conducive to good order and discipline, meanwhile observing and protecting the individual rights of each employee of the Sheriff's Office, the following rules are hereby established:

- A. When any bargaining unit member is under investigation and subjected to interview by competent authority designated by the Sheriff which could reasonably lead to an economic sanction, the interview shall be conducted under the following conditions:
 - 1. The interview shall be conducted at a reasonable hour, preferably at a time when the member is on-duty, or during the normal working hours for the member, unless the seriousness of the investigation requires otherwise. If such interview does occur during off-duty time of the member being interviewed, the member shall be compensated for such off-duty time in accordance with regular Sheriff's Office procedures and the provisions of this Agreement.

- 2. The interview shall take place at a location designated by the investigating officer, preferably at the Wasco County Sheriff's Office.
- 3. The member under investigation shall be informed, in writing, prior to such interview that he/she has a right to have Association representation during the interview, and of the rank, name and command of the officer in charge of the interview, the interviewing officers, and all other persons to be present during the interview. All questions directed to the member being interviewed shall be asked by and through no more than two (2) investigators at one time.
- 4. Unless release of information would otherwise compromise the investigation, the member under investigation shall be informed in writing of the nature of the investigation, the specific facts which form the basis of the allegation(s) against the member, the specific rules, regulations, policies, procedures and/or laws the member is alleged to have violated, the name and address of the persons making the complaint unless the complainant requests the information not be disclosed, and statement and/or reports which state the facts upon which the allegation(s) are based, prior to any interview. If the Sheriff receives an anonymous complaint against a member, he/she may determine if there are other known persons or evidence to substantiate it. If there are, then the Sheriff may pursue the complaint. If not, no record of the anonymous complaint may be retained. The member may be informed of the receipt of the anonymous complaint, but the member shall not be interviewed unless other known persons or evidence substantiate the complaint.
- The interview session shall be for a reasonable period taking into consideration
 the gravity and complexity of the issue being investigated. The member being
 interviewed shall be allowed to attend to his/her own personal physical
 necessities.
- 6. The member being interviewed shall not be subjected to offensive language or threatened with disciplinary action, except that a member refusing to respond to questions or submit to interview shall be informed that failure to answer questions directly related to the investigation or interview may result in disciplinary action. No promise of reward shall be made as an inducement to answering any question. The member's home address, telephone number, or photograph shall not be given to the press or news media without his/her express consent, unless otherwise required by law.
- 7. The complete interview of the member may be recorded. If a tape recording is made of the interview, the member shall be provided a complete copy of the tape if further proceedings are contemplated or prior to any further interview at a subsequent time. Upon request, the member shall be provided a transcribed copy of any notes made by a stenographer or to any reports or complaints made by investigators or other persons, except those which are deemed by the Sheriff to be confidential. No notes or reports which are deemed by the Sheriff to be confidential may be entered in the member's personnel file. The member being interviewed shall have the right to bring a recording device and record any and all aspects of the interview.
- 8. If prior to or during the interview of the member it is deemed that he/she may be charged with a criminal offense, he/she shall be immediately informed of his/her constitutional rights.

- 9. Upon the filing of a formal written statement of charges, or whenever an interview focuses on matters which are likely to result in disciplinary action against the member, that member, at his/her request, shall have the right to be represented by an Association representative of his/her choice who may be present at all times during such interview. The Association representative shall not be subject to the same investigation. This section does not apply to any communications with a member in the normal course of duty, including administrative inquiries (matters which experience and common sense indicate are subject to resolution at the supervisory/command level and which are unlikely to lead to discipline of an economic nature), counseling, instruction, or informal admonishment, or other routine or unplanned contact with a supervisor or any other member, nor shall this section apply to an investigation concerned solely and directly with alleged criminal activities.
- B. No member shall be subjected to disciplinary action, or denied promotion, or be threatened with any such treatment, because of the lawful exercise of rights granted herein, or the exercise of any rights under any existing administrative grievance procedure. Nothing in this section shall preclude the Sheriff from ordering a member to cooperate with other agencies involved in criminal investigations. If any member fails to comply with such order, the Sheriff may officially charge such member with insubordination, consistent with the member's constitutional rights.
- C. No member shall be compelled to submit to a polygraph examination against his/her will. No disciplinary action or other recrimination shall be taken against a member refusing to submit to a polygraph examination, nor shall any comment be entered anywhere in the investigator's notes or anywhere else that the member refused to take a polygraph examination, nor shall any testimony or evidence be admissible at a subsequent hearing, trial, or proceeding, judicial or administrative, to the effect that the member refused to take a polygraph examination.
- D. Nothing contained herein shall preclude or prohibit any member from pursuing civil litigation for false or malicious complaints.

9.2. Personnel Files:

- A. No material reflecting critically upon an employee shall be placed in his/her personnel file that does not bear either the signature or the initials of the employee indicating that he/she has been shown the material or a notation that the employee has been provided a copy of the material and refused to sign. A copy of any such material shall be furnished to the employee when it is placed in the personnel file.
- B. An employee, or his/her Association representative, with written authorization of the employee, may inspect the contents of his/her personnel file upon either the employee's or the Association representative's written request to do so to the Sheriff. If the employee believes that material which is in or is to be placed in his/her personnel file is incorrect or derogatory, he/she shall be entitled to prepare in writing his/her explanation or opinion regarding the particular materials, and this shall be included as a permanent part of the file, provided such written explanation or opinion is presented to the Sheriff within thirty (30) calendar days of the date the material in question is presented to the employee for signature. Any derogatory material placed in an employee's personnel file which is subsequently determined by the Sheriff to be unfounded or without basis shall be removed.

- C. All written records of disciplinary action taken against an employee will be placed in the employee's personnel file within fourteen calendar (14) days of the issuance of the discipline. Any other material placed in an employee's personnel file will be entered within thirty (30) calendar days of the occurrence giving rise to the entry, or thirty (30) calendar days after the occurrence comes to the attention of the Sheriff or the employee's supervisor, whichever is later.
- 9.3. Non-Discrimination: The County and the Association agree that each will fully comply with applicable laws and regulations regarding discrimination and will not discriminate against any employee because of such employee's race, religion, color, national origin, age, union status, marital status, gender or other status protected under local, state or federal law. The parties agree that the labor agreement will not serve to restrict the County's obligation to comply with federal and state law concerning its duty to reasonably accommodate individuals with disabilities.

Any claim of a violation of this Section shall be pursued through Step 3 of the grievance procedure contained herein, but shall not be pursued to Step 4, Arbitration, or otherwise used as the basis for a claim of a violation of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 10 - GRIEVANCE AND ARBITRATION PROCEDURE

- 10.1 <u>Definition of Grievance</u>: For the purpose of this Agreement, a grievance is defined as any one of the following:
- A. A claim by an employee covered by this Agreement concerning the meaning or interpretation of a specific provision or clause of this agreement as it affects such employee;
- B. A claim by the Association concerning the application of a specific provision or clause of this Agreement as it affects a specific member or members of the Association.

In the event of a grievance concerning a disciplinary issue, an individual employee who does not wish the Association to pursue a grievance (under Section 10.1(b) hereof) shall notify the Association in writing at any time prior to the Association decision to arbitrate the issue. A non-member of the Association shall have the right to pursue a disciplinary grievance on their own behalf and the Association will not be a party to the grievance. A grievance which is resolved by an individual's exercise of his/her right to elect not to pursue a disciplinary grievance shall not constitute a precedent against the Association with regard to the substance of the disciplinary grievance in question.

- 10.2. Grievance Procedure: To promote better employer-employee relationships, both parties pledge their immediate cooperation to settle any grievances or complaints that might arise out of the application of this Agreement, and the following procedure shall be the sole procedure to be utilized for that purpose.
 - Step 1: The aggrieved employee, or an Association Representative, shall take up the grievance with the employee's supervisor within ten (10) days of its occurrence or ten (10) days of the date on which the employee first had, or with the exercise of due diligence reasonably could have had, knowledge of the occurrence, whichever is later. In the event the alleged grievance is one in which two (2) or more employees would be aggrieved, the grievance may be taken up with the supervisor(s) of the aggrieved employees by the Association representative, provided the Association identifies the grieving employees. The employee's supervisor shall respond to the grieving party.

- Step 2: If the matter is not settled within ten (10) days of its reference to the supervisor, the grievance shall be reduced to writing, including, but not limited to, a statement of the grievance and relevant facts, the provision(s) of the Agreement allegedly violated, and the relief sought, and the grievance shall be presented to the Sheriff by the Association representative or a non-member of the Association pursuing a disciplinary grievance within twenty (20) days of the date it was taken up with the supervisor at Step 1. The Sheriff or his/her designee shall meet with the Association representative or the non-member of the Association within ten (10) days, or as otherwise mutually agreed, to attempt to settle the grievance. After the meeting, the Sheriff shall provide a written response within ten (10) days to the grieving party.
- Step 3: Should the Association representative or non-member of the Association and the Sheriff fail to reach a settlement within ten (10) days of submission of the grievance to the Sheriff, the Association or non-member of the Association pursuing a disciplinary grievance shall have the right to submit the grievance in writing to the County Board of Commissioners, provided that such submission shall be within ten (10) days from the date of the written response from the Sheriff at Step 2. After submission of the grievance to the County Board of Commissioners, the County Board of Commissioners shall provide a written response within ten (10) days to the Association representative. In the event the Board of Commissioners holds a hearing or otherwise considers a matter involving a disciplinary grievance at a public meeting, the Board of Commissioners shall review the facts of the grievance in executive session unless waived by the grievant.
- Step 4: Should the County Board of Commissioners and the Association fail to settle the grievance within ten (10) days from the date the grievance is submitted to the County Board of Commissioners and if the Association or non-member of the Association pursuing a disciplinary grievance wishes to pursue the matter further, the Association or non-member shall, within ten (10) days from the expiration of the ten (10) day period for settlement with the County Board of Commissioners, simultaneously (1) provide written notice to the County Board of Commissioners of the Association's referral of the grievance to arbitration and (2) send a written request to the Employment Relations Board's State Conciliation Service to provide a list of the names of thirteen (13) arbitrators. A copy of the request for an arbitration panel shall be enclosed with the notice to the County Board of Commissioners which refers the dispute to arbitration. Upon receipt of the arbitrator list, the Association or the non-member of the Association and the County shall alternately strike names from it, with the first strike being determined by lot. When only one (1) name remains on the list, that name shall be the arbitrator.
- 10.3. Arbitrator's Decision: The arbitrator's decision shall be final and binding on the Association and the County but the arbitrator shall have no power to alter the terms of this Agreement. The arbitrator's decision shall be within the scope and terms of this Agreement and the arbitrator shall be requested to issue his/her decision within thirty (30) calendar days after the conclusion of the proceedings, including filing of briefs, if any.
- 10.4. Arbitrator's Expenses: Expenses for the arbitrator's services and proceedings shall be borne by the losing party as determined by the arbitrator. However, each party shall be responsible for any other expenses incurred by them.
- 10.5. Time Limits: The time periods specified in this Article may be extended or modified by written agreement. If at any step of the grievance procedure the grievant fails to comply with the time limits or procedures set forth in this Article, the grievance shall be deemed abandoned and non-arbitrable. If at any step of the grievance procedure the County fails to issue a

response within the time limits set forth in this Article, the grievance will be advanced to the next step.

10.6. Grievance Meetings: Meetings between the Sheriff and/or the County Board of Commissioners or their designee(s) and representatives of the Association shall be arranged at mutually convenient times. The purpose of meetings with the Association will be to adjust pending grievances and to discuss procedures for avoiding future grievances. In addition, the Association may discuss with the County other issues which would improve relationships between the parties. Prior written notice of topics for discussion at such meetings shall be furnished by each party to the other. If the parties agree to meet for the purpose of processing a grievance during the regularly scheduled work hours of some or all of the employees involved in processing such grievance, those employees shall suffer no loss of pay for the time involved.

10.7. Determination of Merit: The provisions of this Article shall not be interpreted to require that the Association process any grievance through the grievance or arbitration procedure which it believes, in good faith, lacks sufficient merit.

ARTICLE 11 - COMPENSATION

11.1: Effective July 1, 2018, employees covered by this Agreement shall be compensated in accordance with the wage schedule attached to this Agreement and marked Appendix A, which is hereby incorporated into and made a part of this Agreement. The parties agree that the minimum time of service in each step shall be one year. Step increases for eligible employees will occur on the employee's anniversary date. Progression from one step to another is not automatic with minimum time but is subject to the recommendation of the supervisor and/or appointing officer.

Employees shall fall under the same compensation program as the County's non-represented employees (see Wasco County Compensation Policy marked as Appendix B¹ and accompanying Side Letter of Agreement). Future pay scale adjustments will be determined by the results of a salary analysis conducted every two years under which the next wage adjustment will occur on July 1 of the third year (i.e., July 1, 2019). Effective July 1, 2018, performance steps 8, 8A, 9, 9A, 10, and 10A of the wage scale will be converted to regular steps. Employees who were topped out at step 7 or 7A as of June 30, 2018, will be eligible to advance to the next step on their anniversary date subject to a satisfactory performance evaluation. The Wasco County Compensation Policy will cease to apply to the bargaining unit employees effective June 30, 2021.

When a new position not listed on the wage schedule in Appendix A is established, the County shall designate a job classification and pay rate in writing for the position. If the parties agree that the position is in the bargaining unit, but the Association does not agree that the job classification and/or pay rate are proper, the Association shall have the right to challenge the issue in accordance with the procedures of the Wasco County Compensation Policy (Appendix B).

¹ To the extent any provisions of the Wasco County Compensation Policy conflict with provisions of the collective bargaining agreement, the language of the collective bargaining agreement shall control.

² The amount of the July 1, 2019 market adjustment will be 3.1% across-the-board.

11.2. Pay Periods: The salaries and wages of employees shall be paid semimonthly.

11.3. Overtime: The Sheriff or designee, whenever in their judgment they deem it necessary because of emergency or for purposes of efficiency, economy, or otherwise, may require employees to work overtime on any day, at any hour, and for so long a period of time as they specify.

Except for instances when an employee works a "flex" schedule, an employee shall be compensated at the rate of time and one-half (1-1/2) for work under the following conditions, but in no event shall such compensation be received twice for the same hours:

- A. In the case of a "5-8" work schedule:
 - All work in excess of eight (8) hours (excluding the uncompensated portion of meal periods) on any scheduled workday.
 - All work in excess of forty (40) hours in any workweek.
- B. In the case of a "4-10" work schedule:
 - All work in excess of ten (10) hours (excluding the uncompensated portion of meal periods) on any scheduled workday.
 - All work in excess of forty (40) hours in any workweek.
- C. In any week in which an employee works a "flex" schedule, the employee shall receive overtime compensation only for work in excess of forty (40) hours in that workweek.
- D. Except in the case of a shift extension and when otherwise practicable, overtime work shall be distributed equally among those qualified employees in a given classification who are willing and available to safely and efficiently perform the work.

Employees who work overtime without proper authorization will be subject to discipline, up to and including termination.

11.4. Court Time: Whenever an employee is required to appear in Court outside his/her regularly scheduled shift, he/she shall be compensated for such time at the rate of time and one-half (1-1/2) for all time spent in such Court appearance, with a minimum of two (2) hours' compensation at the overtime rate. This minimum guarantee shall not be applicable to Court time which includes an extension directly prior to or immediately after the employee's regularly assigned shift.

11.5 Callback: Authorized callback overtime shall be compensated at the below minimums:

- A. On a Scheduled Workday: Two (2) hours (either overtime pay or compensatory time off at the rate of time and one-half, at the employee's choice, as provided in Section 11.6), provided, however, that this minimum shall not apply if the callback assignment begins thirty (30) minutes or less before the start or after the end of the employee's regular shift.
- B. On a Scheduled Day Off: Two (2) hours (either overtime pay or compensatory time off at the rate of time and one-half, at the employee's choice as provided in Section 11.6). Scheduled days off shall include scheduled leave days.

- 11.6. Form of Compensation: Compensation for authorized overtime work shall be paid in the form of compensatory time off or in the form of compensatory pay at the applicable rate. An employee shall be entitled to choose to have overtime compensated in the form of compensatory time off, to a maximum accrual of forty (40) hours. An employee may choose to have an additional forty (40) hours of overtime compensated in the form of compensatory time off, subject to supervisory approval. Compensatory time off shall be scheduled consistent with the FLSA at a time that is mutually agreeable to the Sheriff or designee and the employee. Compensatory time off may be combined with other forms of time off. Except for vacation requests made as part of the annual seniority-based vacation scheduling request process provided for in Section 13.2 of Article 13, the Sheriff's Office will respond in writing to the employee within five (5) days of a request for prescheduled time off.
- as to his/her accumulations of compensatory time off, vacation time, holiday time, and sick leave.
- 11.8 Definition of "Hours Worked": The parties agree that only for purposes of calculation of overtime in accordance with Section 11.3, above, all hours for which an employee receives compensation shall count as "hours worked," excluding holiday pay under Section 12.3.
- 11.9 Certified Field Training Officer Compensation: Up through December 31, 2018, any assigned Field Training Officer will be paid a lump sum of \$25.00 per pay period during which the Field Training Officer has a probationary officer riding with him/her during his/her scheduled shift(s). Effective January 1, 2019, an assigned Field Training Officer shall receive a two-and-one-half percent (2.5%) base pay hourly incentive during which the Field Training Officer has a probationary officer riding with him/her during his/her scheduled shift(s).
- 11.10 Bilingual Pay: An employee demonstrating oral proficiency in Spanish shall receive a two-and-one-half percent (2.5%) base pay hourly incentive. Proficiency will be established by a Human Resources approved testing process. Employees shall not be eligible for the language incentive pay until successful completion of the testing. Recertification for employees eligible to receive the language proficiency will occur every two (2) years. The Sheriff has the authority to limit the number of individuals in each classification who may be eligible for this premium.

ARTICLE 12 - HOLIDAYS

12.1 Recognized Holidays:

A. The following shall be recognized as holidays for regular and probationary employees under this Agreement:

New Year's Day January 1st

Martin Luther King, Jr.'s Birthday Third Monday in January

Presidents' Day Third Monday in February

Memorial Day Last Monday in May

Independence Day

Labor Day

First Monday in September

Veterans Day

November 11th

Thanksgiving Day

Fourth Thursday in November

Christmas Day

December 25th

- 12.2. Holiday Pay: An eligible employee shall receive eight (8) hours pay for each of the holidays listed above which falls on a regularly scheduled workday and on which he/she performs no work.
- 12.3. Weekend Holidays: Whenever a holiday falls on an employee's regularly scheduled day off, he/she shall be credited with eight (8) hours of holiday time off or shall be paid an extra eight (8) hours at his/her regular hourly rate, with such payment to be in addition to his/her normal wage.
- 12.4. Holiday Work: If an eligible employee works on any of the holidays listed above, he/she shall, in addition to his/her pay for that day, be credited with one and one-half (1-1/2) hours of holiday time off for each hour worked or shall be paid an extra one and one-half (1-1/2) hours of compensation at his/her regular hourly rate for each hour worked on the holiday, with such payment to be in addition to his/her normal wage.
- 12.5. Holiday Accrual: The choice of holiday time-off or pay is the sole option of the employee for each holiday worked or which falls on a regularly scheduled day off. All hours accrued as holiday time-off shall be kept in a separate holiday account and shall not be combined with any other form of time-off accrual allowed by the Agreement. Such holiday account shall not exceed forty (40) hours.
- 12.6. Holiday During Vacation: Should an employee be on paid vacation when a holiday occurs, such holiday shall not be charged against his/her vacation.
- 12.7: After an employee has served with the County for sixty (60) calendar days or longer, he/she will be entitled to cash payment for uncompensated accrued holiday time off if his/her employment is terminated. In case of death, compensation will be paid to the employee's beneficiary as designated on his/her County life insurance policy.

ARTICLE 13 - VACATIONS

13.1. Amount of Vacation and Eligibility Requirement: Regular employees who have at least one (1) year of continuous employment with the County shall be entitled to annual paid vacation in accordance with the following schedule:

Length of Employment	Yearly Accrual	Monthly Accrual					
1 through 3 years	92 hours	7.67					
Beginning at the start of the 4th year	100 hours	8.33					
Beginning at the start of the 5th year	108 hours	9.00					
Beginning at the start of the 6th year	116 hours	9.67					
Beginning at the start of the 7th year	124 hours	10.33					
Beginning at the start of the 8th year	132 hours	11,00					

Beginning at the start of the 9th year	140 hours	11.67
Beginning at the start of the 10th year	148 hours	12.33
Beginning at the start of the 11th year	148 hours	12.33
Beginning at the start of the 12th year	156 hours	13.00
Beginning at the start of the 13th year	156 hours	13.00
Beginning at the start of the 14th year	164 hours	13.67
Beginning at the start of the 15th year	172 hours	14.33

13.2. Scheduling: Starting on November 1 of each year, employees shall be permitted to bid "preference" vacation by classification seniority. Employees shall be permitted to select up to their yearly accrual amount, as set forth in Section 13.1. A minimum of forty (40) hours of vacation time must be used per bid and all hours must be consecutive, except that employees may also bid up to three non-consecutive single days upon two weeks' notice provided that the employee may not bump a previously bid preference vacation. Non-preference vacation may be scheduled on a first come-first serve basis any time after the master schedule has been posted. The County shall make the final determination of vacation times, based on operations and the availability of vacation relief. Employees may not use vacation time they have not accrued.

Each employee shall have up to seventy-two (72) hours to bid their vacation and return the bid to their supervisor. The supervisor will then provide the bid to the next employee by seniority, and that employee's 72-hour bid period will commence. Failure to bid within seventy-two (72) hours and return the bid to the supervisor will result in the employee falling to the bottom of the seniority bid list.

- 13.3. Maximum Accumulation: The maximum accumulation of accrued vacation is two hundred and forty (240) hours. Employees are expected to schedule vacation to avoid exceeding the maximum accumulation. If an employee is denied a vacation request within the thirty (30) days prior to exceeding the maximum accumulation, the employee's vacation time in excess of 240 hours may either be cashed out or the employee may be required to take vacation time off at a time selected by the County, at the Sheriff's discretion. In all other circumstances, vacation accumulation in excess of 240 hours will be lost.
- 13.4. Vacation Pay on Termination or Death: Upon termination or death of a regular employee who has completed at least one (1) year of continuous employment, compensation at the current rate for all accumulated vacation shall be paid to the employee or his/her heirs.
- 13.5. Leave Donation: An employee may donate vacation leave time to another employee who has exhausted all accrued paid leaves and is in documented need of additional sick leave due to illness or injury of the employee or a family member for a serious health condition as defined by the FMLA/OFLA. Leave donations shall be subject to the terms of the Wasco County Hardship Leave Policy dated June 2004.

ARTICLE 14 - FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE

Leaves of absence to which an employee is entitled under state and federal law governing family and medical leave and pregnancy disability will be provided to employees in accordance with applicable law. Pursuant to the Family Medical Leave Act (FMLA) and the Oregon Family Leave Act (OFLA), employees may be eligible for family or medical leave for certain qualifying reasons. Eligibility is based upon length of employment and/or hours worked.

When the reason for leave is eligible under more than one law, the leave is applied concurrently. FMLA and OFLA provide for unpaid time off. However, an employee's accrued paid leave will be applied at the same time. After the exhaustion of paid leave, the remaining leave period will be unpaid. The employee's health insurance coverage continues while on FMLA as if the employee had continued to work. In all other situations, the employee's health insurance coverage continues in compliance with the applicable federal or state law during a family and medical leave of absence.

ARTICLE 15 - SICK LEAVE

- 15.1. Accumulation: After an employee has completed three (3) full months of employment, he/she shall be credited with twenty-four (24) hours of sick leave time. Thereafter, the employee shall continue to accrue sick leave at the rate of eight (8) hours for each full calendar month of active employment, provided the employee performs work during the month. Sick leave is provided by the County to cover "sickness" and is not to be used as a supplement for vacation. Sick leave may be taken only for the purposes specified in Section 15.2 hereof.
- 15.2. Utilization of Sick Leave: Employees may utilize their allowance for sick leave when unable to perform their work duties by reason of:
- A. Illness.
- B. Injury.
- C. Pregnancy.
- D. Necessary medical or dental care.
- E. Quarantine exposure to contagious disease which will endanger the health of the employee if he/she continues to work or the health of those who associate with him/her.
- F. Serious illness in the employee's immediate family, which shall be defined to include the employee's mother, father, spouse, same-sex domestic partner, sister, brother, children, stepchildren, stepparents, and grandparents, or any relative residing in the employee's immediate household. This does not provide extended household or child care. A maximum of five (5) days' absence shall be allowed for each such serious illness.
- G. As provided for and allowed pursuant to the Oregon and Federal Family Medical Leave and Oregon Sick Time laws.
- 15.3: An employee shall not be required to furnish a medical certificate to substantiate a request for sick leave of three (3) days or less, except in cases of suspected abuse. Unless otherwise required by law, an employee shall be required to furnish a medical certificate for absences of more than three (3) days, except that this requirement may be waived by the County in individual cases. If a health care provider was not consulted, a signed statement from the employee giving the reasons for the absence and the reasons for not having a health care provider's statement may be accepted as supporting evidence by the Sheriff or designee. Proven abuse or misuse of sick leave may subject an employee to discipline, up to and including discharge.
- 15.4: No employee shall be entitled to sick leave pay while absent from duty due to the following causes (unless otherwise required by law):
- A. Disability arising from any sickness or injury purposely inflicted.

- B. Sickness or disability sustained while on leave of absence without pay.
- C. Inability to properly perform required duties because of intoxication.
- D. Injury or illness for which the employee is eligible for industrial insurance benefits from an employer other than the County.
- 15.5: In the event an employee suffers from illness or injury and is unable to perform his/her duties, he/she shall notify his/her supervisor of his/her expected absence and the expected length thereof prior to the start of his/her regular work shift.
- 15.6. Integration with Workers' Compensation: When an injury occurs in the course of employment, the injured employee may utilize accrued sick leave to receive the difference between payments received under workers' compensation and his/her regular salary. In such instances, prorated charges will be made against the employee's accrued sick leave.
- 15.7: Sick leave is provided by the County solely in the nature of insurance against loss of income due to "sickness," as defined above. Except as allowed by ORS 238, et seq., (PERS) and Section 15.8 below, no compensation for accrued sick leave shall be provided for any employee upon his/her death or termination of employment, for whatever reason. Sick leave shall not accrue during any period of layoff or leave of absence, except for a leave of absence required by the County for job-related educational or training purposes.
- 15.8: Upon the service or disability retirement of an employee, all of the retiring employee's accumulated sick leave shall be reported to the Public Employees Retirement System, and, pursuant to procedures of the PERS, taken into account in determining the employee's retirement benefits.
- 15.9: Sick Leave during FMLA or OFLA leave. An employee must use accrued sick leave when the employee is on FMLA and/or OFLA leave due to his/her own serious health condition.

ARTICLE 16 - OTHER LEAVES OF ABSENCE

- 16.1. Compassionate Leave: An employee will be granted a compassion leave, with pay, for work time lost in the event of a death in the employee's immediate family. Paid time off granted shall be up to a maximum of forty (40) hours. Compassionate leave shall be granted for each death in the employee's immediate family. Immediate family shall include the employee's mother, father, spouse, same-gender domestic partner, sister, brother, children, stepchildren, stepparents, grandparents, mother-in-law, father-in-law and grandchildren, or any relative residing in the employee's immediate household. Compassionate leave shall run in concurrence with OFLA.
- 16.2. Leave of Absence: After completion of his/her probationary period, a leave of absence without pay for a limited period not to exceed thirty (30) calendar days may be granted an employee for job-related educational or training purposes or for other reasons satisfactory to the County where, in the judgment of the Sheriff, the work of the Sheriff's Office would not be seriously handicapped by the temporary absence of the employee requesting such leave. Any such leave must be requested in writing and must be approved by the Sheriff and the Board of Commissioners. At the discretion of the County, upon further written request by the affected employee, such leave may be renewed or extended for any reasonable period.
- 16.3. Military Leave: Military leave shall be granted in accordance with State and Federal law.

ARTICLE 17 - INSURANCE AND RETIREMENT

17.1. Health and Welfare:

- A. The County will make available the health insurance plan in place as of the execution of this Agreement or reasonably comparable medical, vision and prescription insurance to bargaining unit employees and their eligible dependents through the remaining term of this Agreement.
- B. Effective on January 1 of each year of this agreement, the County will adjust its contribution in an amount equal to eighty-five percent (85%) of the total premium cost in effect on those dates.
- C. In the event that any of the insurance coverage provided shall have a net premium in an amount per covered employee greater than the applicable basic County contribution, then the individual employee shall be responsible for paying any such difference and the County is hereby authorized to advance such sums for the express purpose of premium payment and then to make automatic payroll deductions from the earnings of any and all covered employees for reimbursement to the County of any such amount advanced. Where the condition of the insurance contract calls for premium payment before the covered month has ended, should an employee not remain on the payroll for the entire calendar month, the employee is automatically liable to the County for any such amounts advanced and the County is hereby authorized to deduct such amounts from the earnings of the employee.
- D. Bargaining unit employees will be allowed to participate in a Section 125 Plan offered by the County to pay any insurance premium amounts for which they are responsible, as well as for other eligible medical and/or dependent care expenses.
- E. Effective January 1, 2020, the County will make the following vision plan available to employees: VSP 12/12/24.
- 17.2. Dental Insurance: The County agrees to make available through the term of this Agreement for all regular employees who are covered by this Agreement and who qualify under the terms of the program the dental insurance coverage currently in place for all County employees (or comparable coverage). The County will contribute up to 100% of the employee only rate per month towards the premium cost of such dental insurance.
- 17.3. Long-Term Disability Insurance: The County shall continue to provide a long-term disability insurance program for all employees who are covered by this Agreement and who qualify under the terms of such program. It is understood and agreed that the premium for such insurance, and the County's obligation under this Section, shall not exceed nine dollars (\$9.00) per month for each eligible employee.
- 17.4. Liability Insurance: The County agrees to adequately insure all employees in the bargaining unit against claims by third persons for personal injury or property damage resulting from the performance of an employee, including the use or operation of vehicles or equipment of the County, while engaged in the regular course of assigned duties.

17.5. Retirement:

A. The County agrees to continue participation in the Public Employees Retirement System (PERS), and/or the Oregon Public Service Retirement Plan (OPSRP), whichever is

- applicable, subject to the terms and conditions thereof. The County agrees to pay the employee contribution in the amount of six (6) percent of the employee's gross salary.
- B. The "pick up" or contribution payment of employee member monthly contributions to the PERS/OPSRP system shall continue for the life of this Agreement.
- C. The full amount of required employee contributions "picked up" or paid by the County on behalf of employees pursuant to this Agreement shall be considered as "salary" (within the meaning of ORS 238.005) for the purposes of computing an employee member's "final average salary" within the meaning of ORS 238.005 but shall not be considered as "salary" for the purposes of determining the amount of employee contributions required to be contributed under the PERS/OPSRP plans. Such "picked up" or paid employee contributions shall be credited to employee accounts and shall be considered to be employee contributions for the purposes of ORS Chapter 238 and ORS Chapter 238A.

17.6. Life Insurance: The County shall pay the premium for present levels of life insurance coverage throughout the term of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 18 - TRAINING AND CERTIFICATION

- 18.1. Training: Ongoing schooling, training, and professional improvement are recognized as essential elements in maintaining and upgrading the duties and services of the Sheriff's Office. Both the Sheriff and each individual employee are expected to work towards furtherance of this goal.
- A. All requests for approval of schooling or training classes shall be made in writing, and the Sheriff or designee shall respond in writing, either granting approval or denying the request, and setting forth the reasons for any denial. This response shall be returned to the employee within fourteen (14) calendar days of the receipt of the request by the employee's supervisor.
- B. Each employee will be provided the opportunity to meet the DPSST requirements of his/her position.
- C. When an authorized school or training class is attended during regularly scheduled work hours, the employee will be compensated at his/her regular rate of pay.
- D. When the employee attends an authorized school or training course on his/her regularly scheduled day(s) off, such attendance will not be considered hours worked and will not be compensated unless any of the following are applicable: his/her attendance was required by the Sheriff or designee, or the training is directly related to the employee's job (other than specialized or follow-up training required by law or ordinance for certification) and is approved by the employee's supervisor. In the event the training is to be compensated, the employee will be compensated at the appropriate regular or overtime rate of pay. When an employee is attending school at the DPSST Academy, he/she shall be compensated as a regularly scheduled workday.
- 18.2. Tuition Reimbursement: For the purpose of encouraging employees to pursue appropriate formal education, the County shall reimburse employees for educational training courses taken with written approval of the Sheriff, pursuant to the following qualifications:

- A. Only regular employees who have been so employed for at least one (1) year will be eligible for reimbursement.
- B. Reimbursement expenses shall be restricted to tuition, course fees and required textbooks, and no more than nine (9) hours of credit may qualify for payment under this plan in any given quarter.
- C. To obtain reimbursement, the course must be taken from a recognized and accredited school.
- D. Reimbursement shall be conditioned upon presentation of evidence to substantiate the expense and evidence of a "pass" or "C" grade or better.
- 18.3. Fitness Incentive: The County will provide a wellness program open to all employees, such as Healthy Benefits, so long as available through medical and hospital insurance. The Sheriff encourages active participation in wellness activities by all employees. If adequate space is available at the discretion of the County, employees may supply fitness equipment for working out on the employee's own time. Employees will assume full responsibility for maintaining any fitness equipment, and will hold the County harmless from any liability as a result of their use of the equipment for working out in the facility. Employees will be required to sign any releases that the County may require before using the equipment or working out in the facility. Full-time employees are eligible for a fitness incentive of \$100 if they pass the Oregon Physical Abilities Test (ORPAT). The ORPAT may be taken on a semi-annual basis and employees will receive a total annual fitness incentive of \$200 if they pass the test both times. Part-time employees are not eligible for the fitness incentive.

ARTICLE 19 - CLOTHING AND EQUIPMENT

19.1. Uniforms: The County will furnish all required uniforms, excepting footwear.

19.2. Side Arms: A side arm meeting the Sheriff's specifications shall be made available to each Deputy Sheriff for use as a duty weapon. Each Deputy shall be responsible for the care and maintenance of his/her side arm and shall return it in serviceable condition upon the termination of his/her employment.

19.3. Repair or Replace Personal Property:

- A. The County shall reimburse employees, up to a maximum of fifty dollars (\$50.00), for loss or damage to their wristwatch incurred while in the line of duty. The County shall reimburse employees, up to a maximum of one hundred seventy-five dollars (\$175.00), for loss or damage to their eyeglasses incurred while in the line of duty, provided such reimbursement is not available from Workers' Compensation or health insurance.
- B. With the Sheriff's approval, an employee may choose to use his/her own side arm or other item of required equipment (e.g., leather) instead of that provided by the Sheriff. If the item is approved by the Sheriff, the Sheriff shall repair or replace such items when they are lost or damaged in the line of duty, so long as the loss or damage was not the result of the employee's negligence. The Sheriff's obligation under this paragraph shall not exceed the cost of the corresponding departmental issue item.
- 19.4. Boot Allowance: The Sheriff agrees to reimburse employees for expenses incurred for the purchase of boots necessary and appropriate for assigned duties, not to exceed three hundred dollars (\$300) every three (3) years from the date of the employee's last purchase.

19.5. Ballistic Vests: The Sheriff's Office shall provide all full-time regular Deputies with an unexpired and properly fitted ballistic vest and external carrier as soon as is practicable. The ballistic vest and external carrier shall be replaced if no longer in serviceable condition even if not expired. The Sheriff's Office shall replace ballistic vests on or prior to the expiration date. Deputies shall report serviceability and expiration date to their supervisor no less than six (6) months prior to the expiration date.

ARTICLE 20 - ALCOHOL AND DRUG TESTING

The parties recognize the importance of maintaining an employment workplace which is free of alcohol and drug abuse. The parties hereby incorporate the terms of the County's Zero Tolerance Drug Free Workplace Policy. Employees who violate the policy will be subject to disciplinary action up to and including termination.

ARTICLE 21 - CLOSING

- 21.1. Savings Clause: Should any Article, Section, or portion thereof, of this Agreement be held unlawful and unenforceable by any Court of competent jurisdiction, or any administrative agency having jurisdiction over the subject matter, such decision shall apply only to the specific Article, Section, or portion thereof directly specified in the decision; upon the issuance of any such decision, the parties agree immediately to negotiate a substitute, if possible, for the invalidated Article, Section, or portion thereof. All other portions of this Agreement, and the Agreement as a whole, shall continue without interruption for the term thereof.
- 21.2. Funding: The parties recognize that revenue needed to fund the wages and benefits provided by the Agreement must be approved annually by established budget procedures. All such wages and benefits are therefore contingent upon sources of revenue and annual budget approval. The County has no intention of cutting the wages and benefits specified in this Agreement because of budgetary limitations, but cannot and does not guarantee any level of employment in the bargaining unit covered by this Agreement. The County agrees to include in its annual budget request amounts sufficient to fund the wages and benefits provided by this Agreement, but makes no guarantee as to passage of such budget requests pursuant to established budget procedures.
- 21.3. Entire Agreement: The parties acknowledge that during the negotiations which resulted in this Agreement each had the unlimited right and opportunity to make demands and proposals with respect to any subject or matter not removed by law from the area of collective bargaining, and that the understandings and agreements arrived at by the parties after the exercise of that right and opportunity are set forth in this Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the sole and entire existing Agreement between the parties. Except as specifically modified by or treated in this Agreement, all policies, matters, questions and terms affecting unit employees in their employment relationships with the County shall be governed by the Rules and Regulations of the Wasco County Civil Service Commission and by the Wasco County Personnel Ordinance. Except as otherwise provided by this agreement, the County and the Association for the life of this Agreement each voluntarily and unqualifiedly waives the right, and agrees that the other shall not be obliged, to bargain collectively with respect to any subject or matter referred to or covered by this Agreement, even though such subject or matter may not have been within the knowledge or contemplation of either or both parties at the time that they negotiated or signed this Agreement.

ARTICLE 22-TERM AND TERMINATION

This Agreement shall be effective as of its execution, and shall remain in full force and effect through June 30, 2021. It shall be automatically renewed from year to year thereafter unless either party shall notify the other in writing not later than sixty (60) calendar days prior to the expiration or subsequent anniversary date that it wishes to modify this Agreement for any reason. In the event such notice is given, negotiations shall begin not later than thirty (30) calendar days after said notice. This Agreement shall remain in full force and effect during the period of negotiations.

WASCO COUNTY DEPUTY SHERIFFS	WASCO COUNTY
ASSOCIATION	Kathlen B. Schwart
WCLEAPresident	Kathy Schwartz County Commissioner
Since	45
WALA Vice President	Scott Hege, County Commissioner
	J DT James
	Steve Kramer, County Commissioner
	WASCO COUNTY SHERIFF'S OFFICE
	Ву: — 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
-1-1	Lane Magil, Sheriff
Date: 5/7/19	Date: 5.8.2019

APPENDIX A - WAGE SCALE

		WCLEA July 1, 2018 through June 30, 2019 Wage Scale																				
				Cent			Cert				Cert			Cert		Cert		Cert		Cert		Ce
	Monthly																		Midpaint			
WCLEA-Efft, July 1, 2018		-	1		1A	Step 2	- 2	2A	Step	3	3A	Step	4	4A	Step 5	5A	Step 6	6A	/Step 7	7A	Step 8	-
911 Dispatcher/ Telecomm. Operator			\$ 3,324.60	\$3,	366,16	\$ 3,407,72	\$ 3,4	150.32	\$ 3,49	2.91	\$ 3,536.57	\$ 3,580	.23	\$ 3,624.98	\$ 3,669.74	\$3,715.61	\$ 3,761.48	\$ 3,808,50	\$ 3,855.52	\$ 3,903.71	\$ 3,951.91	\$4
Deputy Sheriff	М		\$ 4,276.99	\$4,	330,45	\$ 4,383.91	\$ 4,4	38.71	\$ 4,49	3.51	\$ 4,549.68	\$ 4,605		\$ 4,663.42	\$ 4,720.99	\$ 4,780.00	\$ 4,839.02	\$ 4,899.51	\$ 4,959.99	\$ 5,021.99	\$ 5,083.99	\$ 5
	Hourly			-			-									4	1					,
	1		19.18	\$	19.42	\$ 19.66	\$	19.91	\$ 20	.15	\$ 20.40	\$ 20.	66	\$ 20,91	\$ 21.17	\$ 21.44	\$ 21.70	\$ 21.97	\$ 22.24	\$ 22.52		
	М		24.67	ş	24.98	\$ 25.29	\$.	25.61	\$ 25	92	\$ 26.25	\$ 26.	57	\$ 26.90	\$ 27.24	\$ 27.58	\$ 27.92	\$ 28,27	\$ 28.62	\$ 28.97		

The half steps are for the purpose of recognizing achievement of certified status. The increases are intended to be given at the time

of receiving intermediate or advanced certification. Please note that hourly amounts will be used as the basis for pay in the payroll system.

The conversion from hourly to salary may be slightly different from what is seen above due the effects of rounding.

a=certification @ 1.25% additional pay 1.25% between step and "a" range 2.5% between full steps, i.e. 1 to 2

WCLEA July 1, 2019 through June 30, 2021 Wage Scale (reflects 3.1% wage adjustment) Cert Cert Cert Cert Cert Cen Cert Cert Midpoint 14 Step 2 ZA. Step 3 3A Step 4 4A Step 5 SA Step 6 6A /Step 7 7A Step 8 8A \$ 3,975.04 \$ 4,024.73 \$3,427.66 \$3,470.51 \$ 3,513.36 \$3,557.28 \$ 3,601.19 \$ 3,646.21 \$3,691.22 \$ 3,737.36 \$ 3,783.50 \$3,830.80 \$3,878.09 \$ 3,926,56 \$ 4,074.42 \$4, \$ 4,409.58 \$4,464.70 \$ 4,519.81 \$4,576.31 \$ 4,632.81 \$ 4,690.72 \$4,748.63 \$ 4,807.99 \$ 4,867.34 5 4,928.18 \$ 4,989.03 \$ 5,051.39 \$ 5,113.75 \$ 5,177.67 \$ 5,241.59 \$5,

	Hourly				-						_		-		-		ř.										
4	E	\$ 19.77	\$	20.02	5	20.27	\$ 20.52	\$ 20.78	5	21.04	\$	21,30	\$	21.56	\$	21.83	5	22.10	\$ 22.37	5	22.65	5	22.93	\$ 23.22	5	23.94	\$
	м	\$ 25.44	5	25.76	\$	26.08	\$ 26.40	\$ 26.73	s	27.06	\$	27.40	5	27.74	\$	28.08	\$	28.43	\$ 28.78	5	29.14	s	29,50	\$ 29.87	\$	30.80	5

The half steps are for the purpose of recognizing achievement of certified status. The increases are intended to be given at the time

of receiving intermediate or advanced certification. Please note that hourly amounts will be used as the basis for pay in the payroll system.

The conversion from hourly to salary may be slightly different from what is seen above due the effects of rounding.

a=certification @ 1.25% additional pay 1.25% between step and "a" range 2.5% between full steps, i.e. 1 to 2

WCLEA-Efft. July 1, 2019

:911 Dispatcher/

Deputy Sheriff

Telecomm. Operator

Monthly

M

APPENDIX B - WASCO COUNTY COMPENSATION POLICY

WASCO COUNTY

2014 FEB 27 P 4 23

LINDA BROWN COUNTY CLERK

WASCO COUNTY Compensation Policy

I. Introduction

This compensation program has been developed to provide uniform and objective procedures for the compensation administration within Wasco County.

It is the policy of the County to pay wages and salaries which are based upon the nature of the job performed. In setting pay levels to attract and retain qualified personnel, the County will monitor the compensation levels and practices of other organizations, both public and private, that employ similarly skilled persons in the geographic area. Pay increases, while considering length of service, are given primarily to reward competent and contributing performance.

This compensation policy shall define the terms commonly used, explain the authority and responsibility for the program, and its implementation, and detail the procedures relating to pay administration and payroll. The policy will be reviewed periodically and revised, if necessary, to better serve the needs of the County and its employees. The pay ranges will be evaluated and adjustments made periodically by management.

II Compensation Philosophy

Wasco County has created a Compensation Philosophy that guides the decisions and policies regarding compensation. The principles of this Philosophy are:

- Ensure External Competitiveness of employee pay
- Ensure Internal Equity regarding the valuing of positions
- Ensure the Fairness of individual employee pay based on performance
- Ensure the consistency of the application of policies and procedures
- Ensure that County fiscal resources are considered in making pay decisions

WASCO COUNTY, OREGON COMMISSIONER'S JOURNAL

CJ2014-000034

II. General Provisions

A. Coverage

All employees are subject to this policy, except those covered by union agreements, temporary employees, and the Administrative Officer of the County whose pay is set by the Board of Commissioners.

B. Authorization

All pay offers, increases, demotions, promotions, transfers, and all other changes affecting payroll status must be in concert with this policy, authorized, and signed by two levels of management and initialed by the Finance Director. The approval process must be completed prior to any pay change being communicated to the employee. The Job Evaluation Committee will offer their recommendations to Finance Director and the Administrative Officer regarding the internal value of the position as part of this review process. Final assignment of pay grade for a new or existing job is made by the Finance Director in conjunction with the Administrative Officer.

The Philosophy Statement of this policy and its overall approval is considered the province of the Board, but the authority to execute the actions detailed in this Policy rests with the Administrative Officer in consultation with Finance Director. This authority includes finalizing Job Evaluation ranking, determining the appropriate pay range, setting pay rates, approving promotions, determining when market research is needed, and interpreting the language of this policy. In the event that the Administrative Officer does not approve the request, Department Heads may take the request directly to the Commissioners.

C. Dissemination of Pay Program Information

Supervisors are required to explain to employees their individual pay status and the system for reviews and promotions. Compensation is considered to be personal. Employees are requested to treat pay information (starting pay, raises, promotional increases, etc.) with care and sensitivity. This is not meant to infringe on employees Section VII rights regarding discussing pay; only that employees are requested to recognize that not everyone feels the same comfort regarding wishing to talk about pay levels.

III. Policy and Procedures

A. Range Assignment

Each position in the County is placed in a pay grade that establishes the value of the position in relation to other positions in the County.

Each pay range is identified by a minimum, a market reference point, and an Award Point. An employee's position within the range shall, in

most circumstances, be related to demonstrated performance. Employees shall normally receive a pay level that is within the range limits assigned to their position.

Jobs are placed in pay ranges on the basis of two specific assessments. The first is the Job Evaluation factors that are used to rate positions for internal equity. The second consideration is the pay of comparable position within the County market. The Job Description and/or Analysis Questionnaire will be used to make these assessments.

B. Re-evaluation Requests

In the event that any employee or Supervisor feels that a position has been improperly placed within the hierarchy or that a position has changed sufficiently to warrant re-evaluation, a request must be submitted in writing. The request is to be sent to the HR department by the Supervisor.

To request evaluation of a new job, a Job Analysis Questionnaire must be completed. To request re-evaluation of an existing job, the Job Description must be edited to reflect the job changes that are prompting the re-classification request. Any re-evaluation request of a current position must be accompanied by a detailed written explanation indicating the concerns about the current assignment or information about why another grade is thought to be more appropriate.

Requests will be reviewed periodically for the purpose of addressing any new positions and handling any re-evaluation requests. No position will be considered for re-evaluation more than once a year, and any request may be turned down if there is no substantial change in the position.

If the review process determines that the position should be placed in a higher pay range, then the employee will receive an increase equal to the difference in midpoints between the former and new range unless that would place the employee above the Award Point of the new range. If the process results in the position being placed in a lower pay range, no decrease in pay will occur unless the employee is actually above the Award Point of the new range.

Any employee with a concern about the placement of his/her position must speak to his/her Supervisor about the concern before contacting HR.

C. Pay Ranges

Range Minimum - At least the minimum of the appropriate pay range shall be paid to all qualified employees. In cases where the qualifications of a newly hired or newly promoted employee are less than those describe in the Job Description, such employee may be paid below the minimum of the applicable range while acquiring the necessary minimum qualifications for the position. Such learning period normally will be limited to six months (unless additional time is required for special licensure, training, etc.) after which the employee shall be paid at or above the minimum of the range, if retained in the position.

Market Reference Point - The Market Reference Point of the pay range generally identifies what the market pays for a fully experienced proficient employee. Pay increases above this point normally require performance that consistently meets or exceeds standards. The performance review process will play a significant role in determining whether any increase above the Market Reference Point will be given.

Award Point - The Award Point signals the end of base pay increase and the beginning of possible Performance Award eligibility. Any Award given will be determined based on employee performance and contribution beyond the regularly assigned work of the position. (For more information regarding the manner in which Performance Awards, which are subject to change, are determined, see the County's Performance Management Policy.)

Typically every two years the County will review the market pay levels and, if appropriate and if fiscal resources permit, the pay ranges may be adjusted upward as a result of this survey process. In the event that the range adjustment finds that an employee who used to be at the Performance Award Point is now lower in the pay range, a base pay increase at the next review period may occur if performance warrants an increase in base pay.

If an employee is being paid in excess of the Performance Award Point at the time the range for the position is established or due to a change in job classification, that pay will be maintained, but no further based pay increases will be given until the Performance Award Point is higher than the employee's pay, and then only if performance warrants.

D. Increases

There are two types of increases that may be given.

A step/performance increase may be given as a result of a
performance review. If the review rating indicates that employee
performance meets or exceeds job standards, and the learning
expectations have been met, an increase in base pay may be
authorized so long as it would not result in the pay exceeding the
Performance Award Point of the assigned range. The usual
schedule for increase consideration occurs annually.

The County has designed its pay ranges so there are steps between the Minimum and the Market Reference Point. The purpose of these steps is to determine pay increases that will be given to employees if they demonstrate the necessary learning and ability to apply the knowledge gained during the initial years of their employment.

Once the employee reaches the Market Reference Point and is being paid in line with other fully proficient employees doing comparable work, then increases beyond the Market Reference Point are largely dependent on the demonstrated job performance of the employee. When the Market Reference Point is reached, a performance Plan outlining the expectations and the additional learning necessary to receive any additional compensation will be jointly developed by the Supervisor and the employee. Achievement of the Performance Plan elements will determine whether any additional base pay is approved. (See the Wasco County Performance Management policy for additional details.) The annual decision is based on performance and has to be earned every year.

The second type of pay adjustments may occur as a result of market research. An employee may receive a pay adjustment as a result of any change to the pay structure. These adjustments may be made at the same time as the employee's performance review.

All increases are subject to County resources.

E. Pay Decreases

In a demotion or voluntary move where a job changes to a position that is graded lower than the previously held position, a pay decrease may occur. Consideration will be given to the reason for the change, the employee's work history and the difference between the current pay and the range that the new position is assigned. The new pay grade assignment shall be determined by the HR department, in conjunction with Administrative Officer based on the new position description.

F. New Hires - Starting Salaries

A starting pay for a new hire may exceed the minimum of the pay range if the prior experience of the employee is sufficient to justify it. Typically new hires would be placed at one of the first two steps of the pay range. Any placement above Step Two at time of hire requires Administrative Officer approval. Comparisons will be made to the pay of current employees in the same grade with similar backgrounds.

G. Promotions

- Definition A promotion is the act of moving an employee from a job in a lower pay grade to a different job in a higher pay grade.
- Promotional Increase A promoted employee is eligible for a pay adjustment which places him/her at least at the new minimum, or if the pay already exceeds that, an increase of not less than 5% will be given assuming that it will not place the employee above the Award Point.

H. Transfers

A transfer is the reassignment of an employee to a different job in the same pay grade. A transfer may occur within a department or between different departments. Transfers do not usually generate any pay change.

IV. Federal Wage and Hour Exemptions

Generally speaking, the Federal Wage and Hour laws require recordkeeping of hours worked by certain employees and compensation for hours worked in excess of 40 per week. Given that many of the employees at Wasco County work a 37.5 work week, hours worked between 37.5 and 40 will be paid at the regular rate of pay.

The requirements of exempt work (positions for which there is no overtime payment) state that substantial independent judgment, discretion, authority and decision making must be present. The status of each position will be determined by the HR department in conjunction with management.

V. Pay Practices

A. Overtime

The work week is Sunday through Saturday and consists of either 37.5 or 40 hours for full-time employees. Overtime or any comp time accrual is calculated as one and one-half (1½) times the regular rate of pay for any hours in excess of forty (40) hours actually worked by non-exempt employees during a work week. Sick leave, vacation time, or any holiday hours will not be considered in computing the forty (40) hours after which overtime is paid.

B. Advances

Each employee will be paid on the scheduled pay day determined by the County. The County does not permit payroll advances.

C. Rest Periods and Lunch Breaks

Full-time employees are allowed up to one hour for lunch with a 15 minute rest break in the morning and again in the afternoon unless changed by a department head. Lunch breaks must be no shorter than 30 minutes. Part-time employees will be given a half-hour lunch period if working a 5 hour shift or more. Rest periods are computed as time worked and may not be charged to overtime. Time taken for lunch breaks is not a part of the paid work day. Scheduling of rest periods and lunch breaks will be done to ensure adequate staffing.

D. Approved Time Off

All time off must be approved by the designated supervisor. In cases where the immediate supervisor does not have administrative authority to approve time off, approval must be obtained from the next authorized supervisor. To ensure that proper arrangements are made to cover positions, all approval must be secured prior to taking time off.

Adopted by the Wasco County Board of Commissioners this 19th day of

February, 2014.

Scott C. Hege, Commission Chair

Rod L. Runyon, County Commissioner

Steve D. Kramer, County Commissioner